IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MICHAEL WILLIAMS, an individual, Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, Defendant and Respondent.

> MARSHALLS OF CA, LLC, Real Party in Interest.

A PAREME COURT

NOV 17 2015

Deputy

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL,
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE,
CASE B259967
FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT,
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, CASE NO. BC503806,
ASSIGNED FOR ALL PURPOSES TO JUDGE
WILLIAM F. HIGHBERGER, DEPARTMENT 322

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CAPSTONE LAW APC
GLENN A. DANAS (SBN 270317)
RYAN WU (SBN (SBN 222323)
ROBERT DREXLER (SBN 119119)
LIANA CARTER (SBN 201974)

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Is the plaintiff in a representative action under the Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 (Lab. Code, § 2698 et seq.) entitled to discovery of the names and contact information of other "aggrieved employees" at the beginning of the proceeding or is the plaintiff first required to show good cause in order to have access to such information?
- (2) In ruling on such a request for employee contact information, should the trial court first determine whether the employees have a protectable privacy interest and, if so, balance that privacy interest against competing or countervailing interests, or is a protectable privacy interest assumed? (See Hill v. National Collegiate Athletic Association (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1; Pioneer Electronics (USA), Inc. v. Superior Court (2007) 40 Cal.4th 360.)

INTRODUCTION

Employees pursuing aggregate litigation, including class actions, have long been entitled to contact information of other employees who are potential percipient witnesses to the wage and hour violations at issue. In this enforcement action brought under the Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act ("PAGA"), Appellant Michael Williams sought the names and contact information of Marshalls's current and former California employees so that he could investigate and prove his claims. Departing sharply from well-settled authority, including this Court's decision in *Pioneer Elecs (USA)*, *Inc. v. Super. Ct.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 360 ("*Pioneer*"), the court below denied nearly all of the discovery sought.

The Court of Appeal granted Williams's motion only as to less than one percent of Marshalls's employees' contact information, 1 holding that Williams could only obtain additional employee contact information by satisfying a series of preliminary hurdles related to the merits of his suit. According to the court below, before he can obtain what other courts have called "basic discovery," Williams must: (i) prove through a deposition that he personally suffered Labor Code violations; (ii) demonstrate "personal knowledge" of Marshalls's wage and hour practices at locations throughout California; and (iii) prove that Marshalls's employment practices are in fact uniform throughout the state. Under the decision below, Williams, who is the state's proxy in enforcing California labor laws under PAGA, must in effect establish his a priori knowledge of Marshalls's violations before he can properly investigate, through interviews with other employees, his allegations that Marshalls violated the Labor Code on a state-wide basis.² The reasoning of this decision, at once circular and contrary to all of the analogous case law, is clearly erroneous and must be reversed.

The court below committed several critical errors. First, it found that Williams's motion to compel interrogatory responses was properly denied because he failed to show "good cause." But the Discovery Act requires a moving party to show "good cause" only to compel production of documents for inspection, not to

¹ The court below granted contact information for employees at just one store location out of Marshalls' 129 locations statewide.

² Petitioner's Appendix ["PA"] 14 [¶42]; PA 15 [¶47].

compel responses to interrogatories. This violates this Court's³ explicit instruction to lower courts to avoid reading a "good cause" requirement into a discovery provision that does not contain that term. Under the controlling standard, *relevance* is the touchstone for discoverability. The contact information of employees who may be percipient witnesses to Marshalls's violative statewide practices is clearly discoverable because that information is relevant to the allegations set forth in Williams's complaint.

Moreover, even if a good cause requirement were to apply here, Williams's request amply satisfies it. Without access to aggrieved employees' contact information, Williams would be put at an unfair disadvantage as Marshalls would maintain exclusive and unfettered access to its employees in preparing its defense. And because PAGA civil penalties are measured by violations against all aggrieved employees, Williams cannot be deprived of his ability to ascertain the amount of civil penalties the state and aggrieved employees may recover at trial through interviews with aggrieved employees.

Second, the court below erred by applying the wrong test in concluding that employees' privacy interests outweigh the need for disclosure at this time. In so holding, the court below relied on the "compelling need" test from Lantz v. Superior Court (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 1839, rather than the Hill test adopted by this Court in Pioneer and subsequently applied by numerous other California courts. For relatively nonsensitive information like

³ See Coy v. Super. Ct. (1962) 58 Cal.2d, 210, 220.

contact information of percipient witnesses, this Court in *Hill* rejected any showing of "compelling need" or "compelling interest." Rather, under the *Hill/Pioneer* line of cases, courts have ordered the disclosure of percipient witnesses' and class members' contact information, subject to a privacy notice. The *Hill/Pioneer* holding extends to the contact information of aggrieved employees in a PAGA action.

If anything, PAGA plaintiffs should be entitled to even greater discovery rights than class action plaintiffs, particularly considering the importance of the public rights and state interest at the core of the PAGA. Instead, by diminishing Williams's PAGA representative action as a mere "parochial claim" and imposing unique, unprecedented preliminary merits hurdles to obtain "basic discovery," the decision below, if affirmed, would cripple the PAGA mechanism, thereby degrading one of the "primary mechanisms for enforcing the Labor Code." (Iskanian v. CLS Transp. Los Angeles (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 383.)

The decision below is at odds with the *Pioneer* and *Hill* line of cases governing discovery and the important PAGA policies recently affirmed in *Iskanian* and must be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Marshalls is a retailer of discount clothing, housewares and personal items. (PA 9 [¶16].) Marshalls employs hourly-paid, non-exempt workers at retail stores throughout California averaging 31,000 square feet in size. (PA 9 [¶¶ 17 and 19].) Williams was employed as a non-exempt, hourly-paid employee from approximately 2012 to 2013 at Marshalls's Costa Mesa, California location. (PA 9 [¶18].)

Williams filed this action on March 22, 2013, and filed the operative Second Amended Complaint ("SAC") on November 19, 2013, alleging one cause of action under PAGA. (See generally PA 6-19.) This PAGA claim is for civil penalties for violations of Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512(a)⁴ for the failure to provide Williams and other aggrieved employees with meal or rest periods or compensation in lieu thereof; section 226(a) for failure to provide accurate wage statements to Williams and other aggrieved employees; sections 2800 and 2802 for failure to reimburse Williams and other aggrieved employees for all necessary business-related expenses; and section 204 for failure to pay all earned wages owed to Williams and other aggrieved employees during employment. (PA 12 [¶36].)

The SAC alleged statewide Labor Code violations based on systematic, company-wide policies. (See, e.g., PA 14 [¶42] ["Defendants implemented a systematic, company-wide policy to erase and/or withdraw meal period premiums from the time and/or payroll records when Plaintiff and aggrieved employees' records reflected that they did not receive compliant meal periods.]; PA 15 [¶47] ["Defendants did not schedule sufficient employees to handle the volume of customer transactions and . . . there were times that Plaintiff and aggrieved employees had to continue working without a rest period," yet "Defendants implemented a systematic, company-wide policy to not pay rest period premiums"]; PA 17 [¶54] [Marshalls had "policy and

⁴ Statutory references are to the Labor Code, unless otherwise indicated.

practice" of not reimbursing employees regarding necessary business-related expenses, such as for travel to banks to obtain cash, change or deliver bank deposits].)

During discovery, Williams sought production of the names and contact information of Marshalls' non-exempt California employees who had worked since March 22, 2012 (corresponding to PAGA's one-year statute of limitations) so that he could investigate and obtain evidence to substantiate his claims. (PA 54.) Williams served his Special Interrogatories, Set One, on Marshalls on February 5, 2014. (PA 53-54.) Special Interrogatory No. 1 asked for the following information:

Set forth the first, middle and last name, employee identification number, each position held, the dates each position was held, the dates of employment, last known address, and all known telephone numbers of each and every person who is or was employed by Defendant Marshalls of CA, LLC in California as a non-exempt employee at any time since March 22, 2012.

(Id.)

Marshalls' response to Special Interrogatory No. 1 consisted solely of objections. (PA 59-60.) As a result, Williams met and conferred with Marshalls and offered to address any privacy concerns with a "Belaire-West notice," which is a privacy notice procedure commonly used in class action cases allowing employees the option to opt out of having their contact information produced. (PA 64.) Marshalls rejected this solution and thereafter continued to refuse to produce the requested employee contact information. (PA 67.)

Williams filed a motion to compel Marshalls's response to this interrogatory (see generally PA 27-43), which Marshalls opposed. (See generally PA 94-112.) At the motion hearing on September 9, 2014, the trial court adopted its tentative ruling denying the vast majority of Williams's motion, but granting it in part. Specifically, the trial court held that Marshalls need not produce employee contact information for 128 of its California stores, but did have to produce contact information for its employees at its Costa Mesa store. (PA 229; PA 234.) The trial court ordered this discovery subject to a Belaire-West notice process, with the costs to be shared by the parties equally. (PA 229.) It also held that Williams could renew his motion to seek any additional employees' names and contact information, but only after he was deposed "for at least six productive hours," and that Marshalls could refer to this deposition testimony in its opposition if Marshalls believed the deposition "shows the claims presented herein have no factual merit" or whether the challenged corporate policy was uniformly applied throughout the state. (PA 230.)

The trial court requested that the Court of Appeal review the matter and address the scope of discovery in a PAGA action, finding it is the "legitimate subject of an early writ." (PA 257:10.) The trial court certified the question under California Code of Civil Procedure Section 166.1 as presenting a controlling question of law concerning which there are substantial grounds for difference of opinion. (PA 257.)

Williams filed a petition for writ of mandate on

November 10, 2014. The Court of Appeal held oral argument on April 22, 2015, and published its opinion on May 15, 2015, denying the petition for writ of mandate. First, the Court of Appeal ruled that discovery of Marshalls's employee contact information statewide was premature, as Williams had failed to establish "good cause" under Code Civ. Proc., § 2031.310, subd. (b)(1). (Williams v. Super. Ct. (Marshalls of CA, LLC) (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 1151, 1157.) The court held that Williams failed to "evince knowledge of the practices of Marshalls at other stores" or demonstrate that Marshalls has a uniform statewide policy, and thus failed to establish good cause for the contact information for Marshalls's California employees. The court below also found that "[n]othing in the PAGA suggests a private petitioner standing in as a proxy for the DLSE is entitled to the same access," as the DLSE, and thus rejected the argument that PAGA's purpose authorized the discovery sought. (*Id.* at p.1157.)

Second, the court held that Williams had failed to demonstrate a "compelling need [that is] so strong as to outweigh the [employees'] privacy right" under the California Constitution, applying the test articulated in Lantz v. Superior Court (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 1839. (Id. at pp.1158-1159.) Despite the fact that the Court of Appeal stated "discovery in a civil action brought under the PAGA be subject to the same rules as discovery in civil actions generally," the court did not cite, much less analyze, any of the controlling cases from this Court or the Court of Appeal regarding the production of non-party employee names and contact information in the context of a wage and hour suit. (Id.

at p.1158.) Applying the "compelling need" test, the Court of Appeal held that Williams's "need for the discovery at this time is practically nonexistent." (*Id* at p.1159.) The Court of Appeal concluded by finding that Marshalls's employees' privacy interest will outweigh Plaintiff's interest in disclosure of the employees' names and contact information until Williams (1) sits for a deposition, (2) establishes that he was subjected to Labor Code violations and (3) establishes that Marshalls's employment practices are uniform throughout the company. (*Id*. at p.1159.)

Based on its conclusions regarding lack of "good cause" and the privacy interests at stake, the court below denied the writ petition.

Williams timely filed a petition for review in this Court on June 25, 2015. This Court granted the petition on August 19, 2015.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL COMMITTED
REVERSIBLE ERROR BY DENYING WILLIAMS
ACCESS TO DISCOVERY RELEVANT TO HIS PAGA
CLAIMS

At issue on appeal is whether Williams, in prosecuting this PAGA suit, is entitled to obtain the names and contact information of Marshalls's non-exempt California employees who had worked since March 22, 2012. (PA 54.) In the proceedings below, the Court of Appeal erred by affirming the trial court's order denying Williams access to this basic, eminently discoverable information. In so holding, the Court of Appeal flouted the Civil Discovery Act's "relevance standard" while erroneously requiring that Williams show "good cause"—a

requirement inapplicable to Williams' motion compelling answers to interrogatories. Moreover, by requiring that a PAGA plaintiff establish his knowledge of his allegations before he can gain access to witness contact information—that is, that he have to prove up his claims before he can obtain evidence to investigate his claims—the court below made it difficult, if not impossible, to effectively prosecute his action to enforce the Labor Code.

A. In Resolving Discovery Disputes, Courts Must Heed The Liberal Policy Favoring Discovery

The Civil Discovery Act (the "Act"), enacted in 1957 and amended numerous times since, liberalized pre-trial discovery procedure to "take the 'game' element out of trial preparation" and "do away 'with the sporting theory of litigation—namely surprise at trial." (Greyhound Corp. v. Super. Ct. (1961) 56 Cal.2d 355, 376 [citations omitted].) By freely allowing facts to be disclosed in the pretrial phase, the Act aims to "educate the parties concerning their claims and defenses so as to encourage settlements and to expedite and facilitate trial." (Emerson Electric Co. v. Super. Ct. (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1101, 1107.) The expansive scope of discovery under the Act allows both sides to be able "to investigate the case fully." (Atari, Inc. v. Super. Ct. (1985) 166 Cal.App.3d 867, 871.)

Under the Act, "relevance" is the sole standard for discoverable information. As provided by Code of Civil Procedure section 2017.010, "any party may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, that is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action . . . if the matter either is itself admissible in evidence or appears reasonably calculated to lead to

the discovery of admissible evidence." Thus, the scope of discovery extends not only to admissible evidence, but also to any information that might lead to evidence admissible at trial. (Davies v. Super. Ct. (1984) 36 Cal.3d 291, 301.)

The Act specifically makes discoverable the identity and contact information of persons with knowledge of discoverable matters. (Code Civ. Proc., § 2017.010 ["Discovery may be obtained of the identity and location of persons having knowledge of any discoverable matter."].) Section 2017.010 "provides a broad right to discover any relevant information that is not privileged, including the identity and location of witnesses." (Crab Addison, Inc. v. Super. Ct. (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 958, 965-966.)

In light of this strong policy favoring discovery, the scope of discovery must be construed liberally, and any doubt is generally resolved in favor of permitting discovery—"especially when the precise issues of the litigation have not yet been clearly established." (Colonial Life & Accident Ins. Co. v. Super. Ct. (1982) 31 Cal.3d 785, 790, fn.8 [finding that "[c]ourts may appropriately give the applicant [for discovery] substantial leeway" in that instance (citation omitted)].) In Greyhound, this Court had specifically singled out an intermediate court that sustained objections to interrogatories, including, inter alia, to interrogatories seeking contact information that "were clearly discoverable by deposition." (Greyhound, 56 Cal.2d at pp.381-82 [citing Rust v. Roberts (1959) 171 Cal.App.2d 772].) Greyhound emphasized that the courts below cannot "stultify the purposes of

discovery" by suppressing discovery and failing to consider other ways in which the discovery may be obtained. (*Id.* at p.381.)

Ultimately, *Greyhound* instructed lower courts, in the proper exercise of discretion, to give effect, rather than thwart, the policy favoring discovery, and "liberally construe[] [facts] in favor of discovery, rather than in the most limited and restrictive manner possible." (*Id.* at p.383.) "Any record which indicates a failure to give adequate consideration to these concepts is subject to the attack of abuse of discretion." (*Id.* at p.384.)

- B. The Court of Appeal Committed Reversible Error By Denying Williams Access To Contact Information Of Percipient Witnesses And Other Aggrieved Employees In The First Instance
 - 1. The Court of Appeal Failed To Apply
 Controlling Law Authorizing Discovery of
 Contact Information of Percipient
 Witnesses And Potential Participants to
 Aggregate Litigation

The Court of Appeal committed reversible error by denying Williams's request for contact information of potential percipient witnesses and aggrieved employees without mentioning, much less applying, any of the cases addressing discovery of contact information, including the controlling case that extends that broad right to plaintiffs pursuing aggregate litigation, *Pioneer*. Instead, the Court of Appeal baldly asserted that Williams, through his basic interrogatory request, sought to "wage litigation rather than facilitate it." (*Williams*, 236 Cal.App.4th at p.1157.)

(a) Pioneer and Its Progeny Hold That
Contact Information of Percipient
Witnesses and Potential Class
Members is Discoverable

In denying Williams access to over 99% of the requested contact employee information, the courts below flout *Pioneer*, which declared that "[c]ontact information regarding the identity of potential class members is generally discoverable, so that the lead plaintiff may learn the names of other persons who might assist in prosecuting the case." [Pioneer, 40 Cal.4th at p.373 [citing cases].) Finding that "many of Pioneer's complaining customers would be percipient witnesses to relevant defects in the DVD players," this Court held that the contact information for all complaining customers who purchased the same allegedly defective DVD player was discoverable so long as an opt-out was provided. (Id. at pp.364, 374 [emphasis in original].)

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