SUPREME COURT
FILED

Case No. S227228

FEB 18 2016

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

MICHAEL WILLIAMS, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent.

Court of Appeal of the State of California
2nd Civil No. B259967

Superior Court of the State of California
County of Los Angeles

The Honorable William F. Highberger, Judge Presiding
Civil Case No. BC503806

**REAL PARTY IN INTEREST
MARSHALLS OF CA, LLC'S
ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

ROBERT G. HULTENG
Bar No. 071293
rhulteng@littler.com
Littler Mendelson, P.C.
650 California Street, 20th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94108.2693

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

VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Court Of Appeal Correctly Affirmed The Trial Court’s Discretion To Limit And Phase Discovery.

1. Trial Courts Are Empowered With Broad Authority To Manage Discovery.

It is well settled that trial courts have broad discretion to manage discovery matters. (*See* Code Civ. Proc., § 128(a)(3); Code Civ. Proc., § 128(a)(5) (courts control conduct of any “any persons in any manner connected with a judicial proceeding before it, in every matter pertaining thereto”); *John B. v. Superior Court* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1177, 1186 (trial

court is vested with wide discretion to grant or deny discovery that may only be disturbed upon an abuse of discretion).) California trial courts also have inherent powers, independent of statute, to control the conduct in their courtrooms, derived from two distinct sources: the courts' "equitable power derived from the historic power of equity courts" and "supervisory or administrative powers which all courts possess to enable them to carry out their duties." (*Bauguess v. Paine* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 626, 635.)

2. Trial Courts Do Not Abuse Their Substantial Discretion By Phasing PAGA Litigation To First Limit Discovery To A Plaintiff's Store Location.

Appellant asserts that he sought production of the private contact, personnel, and home address information of all of Marshalls' non-exempt employees statewide "so that he could investigate and obtain evidence to substantiate his claims." (App. Op. Br. at p. 6.) This is essentially an admission that Appellant sought to conduct a fishing expedition in search of wage and hour violations. Appellant's candor squarely presents this question: should a PAGA plaintiff be given unbridled, statewide access to the private information of over 16,000 non-party employees simply because he or she has filed a lawsuit? Or, to state the converse, should a trial court have discretion to limit and phase PAGA discovery to require some reasonable showing of potential statewide violations before permitting statewide discovery?

a. **The Trial Court Was Empowered With The Discretion To Limit Overbroad Requests.**

As the trial court determined, Appellant's special interrogatory seeking private information for all non-exempt employees of Marshalls throughout California was overbroad. California courts have consistently found similar interrogatories to be unenforceable. In *Obregon v. Superior Court, supra*, the Court of Appeal reviewed a trial court's denial of a motion to compel responses to special interrogatories, and concluded as follow:

Here the trial judge had been presiding over discovery and other aspects of this case for some time. She had the opportunity to learn the issues in the case, to observe the practices of the attorneys, and to form judgments on the attorneys' credibility and motivations. When assessing credibility and motivation, past experience is often a prime indicator.

(*Id.* at 430-431.)

The Court also noted that, "[a]ny discovery request, even an initial one, can be misused in an attempt to generate settlement leverage by creating burden, expense, embarrassment, distraction, etc. It is a judge's responsibility to control such abuse." (*Id.* at 431) Further, when a party serves "grossly overbroad" discovery requests that do not appear "reasonably related to a legitimate discovery need," a court may draw a reasonable inference that the propounding party may be seeking to gain undue advantage. (*Id.*) Ultimately, the Court of Appeal cautioned that, "[a]

trial judge's perceptions on such matters, inherently factual in nature at least in part, must not be lightly disturbed." (*Id.*)

In *Deaile v. General Telephone Co. of California* (1974) 40 Cal.App.3d 841, the Court of Appeal considered whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying outright a motion to compel a further response to a plaintiff's interrogatories requesting that the former employer: "1. State the names and addresses of each woman employee of General Telephone Company, Hermosa Beach facility in May 1970. 2. State which of these people are still employed by General Telephone Company and where they are employed." (*Id.* at 850.) After attempting to seek the parties' agreement to modified language, the trial court denied the motion to compel. (*Id.*) The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's order on the basis that the interrogatories were entirely objectionable, as they sought information that was not relevant or likely to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. (*Id.* at 851.)

Similarly, in *Ryan v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County* (1960) 186 Cal.App.2d 813, the Court of Appeal reviewed a trial court's ruling which sustained an employer's objections to an interrogatory seeking "the names and addresses of all persons who have been employed by plaintiff in the publication of all issues of plaintiff's publication." (*Id.* at 818.) The Court found that the Code of Civil Procedure "does not, in our opinion, permit any such shotgun interrogatory as that here propounded." (*Id.*)

“There must be at least some showing that the persons whose names and addresses are sought are potential witnesses as to some relevant fact.” (*Id.*) Absent any such showing, the Court affirmed the trial court’s ruling. (*Id.*)

Trial courts have the same substantial discretion to review discovery and make appropriate, measured rulings to control discovery in individual actions, class actions and PAGA-only actions. Here, like the interrogatories in *Obregon*, *Deaile*, and *Ryan*, Appellant’s overbroad interrogatory seeks information that – at least at this nascent stage of the litigation – is not relevant to the subject matter of his complaint, as he demands, “first, middle, and last name, employee identification number, each position held, the dates each position was held, the date of employment, last known address, and all known telephone numbers of each and every person who is or was employed by Defendant Marshalls of CA, LLC in California as a non-exempt employee at any time since March 22, 2012.” (PA053-54.) The interrogatory is entirely untethered to Appellant’s position, the store locations of any of the requested non-party employees, or whether any of these individuals bore witness to any of the alleged facts underlying Appellant’s complaint.

For the same reasons, Appellant’s reliance on California Code of Civil Procedure section 2017.010, permitting discovery of “the identity and location of persons having knowledge of any discoverable matter,” is unavailing. (App. Op. Br. at p. 10-11.) Appellant’s interrogatory did not

identify anyone having knowledge of a Labor Code violation. Instead, Appellant asked for a blanket list of private information for over 16,000 non-exempt employees statewide, with no indication that any of these employees could have any knowledge relating to any unlawful wage and hour practices.

For those reasons, the trial court acted within its discretion to control and phase discovery. Contrary to Appellant's assertions, neither the Court of Appeal nor the trial court denied Appellant's discovery entirely. A portion of Appellant's motion (related to the Costa Mesa store) was granted. (PA229-30.) In doing so, the trial court evaluated the legal and factual discovery issues over the course of two hearings, and following review of five briefs and supplemental briefs. (PA027-70, 094-112, 119-40, 141-44, 145-55, 163-74.) The trial court's prudent, phased approach to discovery, as affirmed by the Court of Appeal, should be upheld.

b. The Trial Court's Ruling Should Be Affirmed Because Appellant Cannot Demonstrate Prejudice.

Trial court decisions concerning discovery are made on the front lines. They are reviewed on the deferential abuse of discretion standard, recognizing the trial court's direct involvement in the discovery dispute. The burden rests with Appellant to demonstrate that the ruling below "resulted in some prejudice to [him]." (*L.A. v. Superior Court* (1961) 196 Cal.App.2d 743, 748.) "'Abuse of discretion' in allowing or denying

discovery is synonymous with ‘resulting prejudice.’” (*Id.*) Absent proof of resulting prejudice, abuse of discretion cannot be shown. (*Id.*; *see also* Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 475 (“No... decision... shall be reversed... unless it shall appear from the record that such error, ruling, instruction, or defect was prejudicial, and... by reason of such error, ruling, instruction, or defect, the said party... appealing sustained and suffered substantial injury...”).

If Appellant believes he has been harmed by the trial court’s ruling, the fault lies with him. Appellant has not substantiated his claims with any facts whatsoever. Marshalls has attempted to ascertain the basis for his claims, only to be met with Appellant’s failure, for over a year now, to appear at his repeatedly-noticed deposition. If Appellant truly felt that he could support the assertions in his complaint, he could have noticed the deposition of Marshalls’ “person most knowledgeable” on any number of topics, including Marshalls’ meal period and rest break policies. (*See, e.g.*, Code Civ. Proc., § 2025.230.) The trial court invited him to cross a “low bar” and provide testimony—“more than nothing”—to support his alleged personal, storewide and/or statewide claims. (PA262 at 31:25-26.) Rather than attempting to make this minimal showing, Appellant chose instead to pursue multiple appeals of his case. Appellant offers no explanation as to why he has not made the minimal showing requested by the trial court. Because Appellant cannot establish prejudice, he cannot show abuse of discretion.

3. The Court Of Appeal Correctly Affirmed The Trial Court's Order On The Grounds That "Good Cause" Existed.

Appellant argues that the Court of Appeal erred by imposing a "good cause" standard on special interrogatories. Appellant notes correctly that California Code of Civil Procedure section 2030.300 does not include a "good cause" standard. (App. Op. Br. at 20.) However, the California Code of Civil Procedure also specifically empowers trial courts, on motion and for "good cause" shown, to "establish the sequence and timing of discovery for the convenience of parties and witnesses and in the interests of justice." (Code Civ. Proc., § 2019.020.) Of course, as noted by the Court of Appeal, that is precisely what the trial court did here.

Further, the trial court's order does not even mention "good cause." Instead the trial court, balancing the parties' interests, required simply that Appellant show "more than nothing" to substantiate a statewide discovery request. (PA262 at 31:25-26.) The Court of Appeal recognized the trial court's inherent discretion and the fact that civil discovery may be broad, but it is "not limitless." (*Williams*, 236 Cal.App.4th at 1156 (citing *Calcor Space Facility, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 216, 223).) The Court of Appeal found, in part, "[w]e read the [trial] court's order as paraphrasing the common requirement that discovery not be ordered absent

a showing of good cause.”⁴ (*Williams* at 1158.) As this Court has previously held, “[i]t has long been recognized that ‘[t]he term ‘good cause’ is not susceptible of precise definition. In fact, its definition varies with the context in which it is used.’” (*In re Lucas* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 839, 849 (citations omitted).)

Thus, the Court of Appeal is entirely consistent with the same broad understanding of “good cause” reflected in *Columbia Broadcasting System, Inc. v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County* (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 12. In *Columbia Broadcasting*, the Court of Appeal reviewed interrogatories which bore little relevance to the claims set forth in the complaint. While acknowledging that the Code of Civil Procedure “does not require any showing of good cause for the serving and filing of interrogatories,” the Court held:

However, in deciding a motion under section 2030 the trial court must, of necessity, consider not only the stated objections to the interrogatories, but also the interrogatories themselves, as well as the pleadings, and the contentions of the interrogating party as to the purpose and validity of the interrogatories.

⁴ Admittedly, the precise wording used by the Court of Appeal is not supported by California Code of Civil Procedure section 2030.210 *et seq.*, as the statute does not use the words “good cause”. However, given the Court of Appeal’s deference to the trial court’s order (which does not refer to “good cause”), and the many other grounds upon which the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial judge, it is clear that the Court of Appeal would have reached the same result regardless.

(*Columbia Broad. System, Inc. v. Super. Ct.*, 263 Cal.App.2d at 18-19, (citing *Coy v. Superior Court*, *supra*, at p. 220).)

The *Columbia* court further held that, “[i]f the interrogatories stray too far and seek information which cannot reasonably serve the acknowledged purposes of pretrial discovery, the motion should be denied.” In reaching this decision, the court cited to the U.S. Supreme Court’s holding in *Hickman v. Taylor*, stating that, “discovery, like all matters of procedure, has ultimate and necessary boundaries.” (*Id.* at 19 (citing *Hickman v. Taylor* (1947) 329 U.S. 495, 507.)) The appellate court denied discovery for certain interrogatories that sought information not relevant to the subject matter of the action. (*Id.* at 26.)

Reviewing the record, hearing the parties at oral argument, balancing the parties’ interests and using its discretion to reach a reasoned decision is precisely what the trial court did here, as demonstrated in its order: “[b]ecause the discovery sought is massive – the names of all current and former non-exempt employees who worked at 129 stores spread throughout California subject to a *Belaire-West* – the Court does believe it needs to exercise its prudent discretion to regulate and phase the discovery to a certain degree to manage and limit costs of discovery.” (PA229-30.) Whether one calls that good cause or just common sense, the trial court articulated sufficient grounds on which to exercise its discretion.

4. The Court Of Appeal Correctly Affirmed The Trial Court's Order On The Alternative Ground That Employee Privacy Interests Outweigh Appellant's Need For Disclosure At This Preliminary Stage.

The Court of Appeal also correctly gave due weight to the privacy rights of non-party employees of Marshalls, who are strangers to this litigation. The Court of Appeal recognized California's broad right to privacy, and balanced the non-party employees' right to privacy with Appellant's need for discovery at this stage of the case. (*Williams v. Superior Court*, 236 Cal. App. 4th at 1157-58.) The Court concluded:

Marshalls' employee's privacy interests outweigh plaintiff's need to discover their identity at this time. Those interests begin with the employees' right to be free from unwanted attention and perhaps fear of retaliation from an employer. On the other hand, plaintiff's need for the discovery at this time is practically nonexistent.

(*Id.*)

The Court of Appeal reached this conclusion, in part, on the basis that Appellant had taken no steps to show that he could demonstrate any PAGA violation, much less that he could represent any other Marshalls employees in this respect. (*Id.* at 1159 (“[Appellant’s] first task will be to establish he was himself subjected to violations of the Labor Code.”)).

The Court of Appeal's reasoning is supported not only by the *Hill* analysis, set forth more fully below, but also by the long-standing principle that an employer cannot waive the privacy rights of its employees. (*See Board of Trustees v. Superior Court* (1981) 119 Cal.App.3d 516, 525; *Life Technologies Corp. v. Superior Court* (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 640, 652-53;

see also Hill v. National Collegiate Athletic Assn. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1.) The interests of 16,000 employees, to avoid intrusion into their privacy, both at home and in their workplace, should not yield to the “practically nonexistent” interest of one employee.

B. The Court Of Appeal Correctly Affirmed The Trial Court’s Ruling That A PAGA Plaintiff Cannot Secure Statewide Discovery Based On Mere Allegations Alone.

1. The Language Of The PAGA Is Unambiguous.

Appellant argues that “the Court of Appeal’s decision forces PAGA plaintiffs to litigate without any way of knowing the extent of the employer’s Labor Code violations” (App. Op. Br. at p. 24.) The language of the PAGA requires a plaintiff to possess actual knowledge of the specific Labor Code provisions allegedly violated, and to have facts and theories supporting those assertions, prior to filing a lawsuit. By ignoring the statute’s requirements, Appellant puts the cart before the horse.

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